FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 1/25/2019 2:08 PM

Supreme Court No. $\frac{96785-7}{\text{COA No. }49933-9-II}$

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. ALEX QUINTANA, Petitioner. PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER B. TILLER Attorney for Petitioner

THE TILLER LAW FIRM Rock & Pine P. O. Box 58 Centralia, Washington 98531 (360) 736-9301

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Alex Quintana, appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review that is designated in part B of this petition.

B. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Quintana seeks review of the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Quintana*, 49933-9-II (Slip Op. filed December 27, 2018. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix A at pages A-1 through A-24.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause requires the State prove every element of the offenses beyond a reasonable doubt.
- (a) In this case, the jury in Count 1 found Mr. Quintana guilty of second degree assault, in which the State alleged that Chris Jones was the victim. To prove Mr. Quintana guilty of second degree assault, the evidence had to establish that he created fear and apprehension of bodily injury in Chris Jones through use of a firearm. Where Mr. Jones did not testify that he was afraid or otherwise apprehensive after hearing three gunshots, did the State fail to prove the elements of second degree assault?
- (b) Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, could any rational trier of fact have found Mr. Quintana guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of the charged offenses where the convictions rested solely

on the identification by a single witness, who identified another man as the driver of the vehicle but conceded at trial that she had not seen the driver, where no forensic evidence linked Mr. Quintana to the offense, and where a defense witness—Justice Arquette —stated under oath that *he* was was the gunman and that Mr. Quintana did not commit the crimes?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural history:

Alex Quintana, Jr. was charged in Cowlitz County Superior Court by amended information with two counts of first degree assault (counts I and II); drive-by shooting (count III); and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm (count IV). Clerk's Papers (CP) 95-97. The State alleged that Mr. Quintana fired a handgun from a vehicle at Christopher Jones and Erika Osorio-Heaton, on August 23, 2016. CP 95-97. The State alleged firearm enhancements in counts I and II. CP 95.

Chris Jones and his girlfriend Erica Osorio-Heaton shared a house belonging to her mother at 3301 Ocean Beach Highway in Longview, Washington. RP(A) at 144, RP(B) at 202. Early on the morning of August 23, 2016, Ms. Osorio-Heaton received a telephone call. RP(A) at 146, RP(B) at 200, 206. She answered the phone and testified that she recognized the voice of the caller as Alex Quintana, whom she had met through Mr. Jones and had known for about two years. RP(A) at 140, 157. She stated that the voice she identified as Mr. Quintana said "what's up" and "[']see

you later, sweetheart,['] or something like that." RP(A) at 147, 159, 160. Ms. Osorio-Heaton handed the phone to Mr. Jones. RP(A) at 147. She stated that she knows Mr. Quintana's telephone number and did not recognize the number as belonging to Mr. Quintana but stated that it was the number of a person named Billy Canales. RP(A) at 157. She stated that after handing the phone to her boyfriend, he put it on speaker and heard other voices in the background. RP(A) at 159.

Mr. Jones said that his girlfriend handed him the phone and the speaker said "what's up, homey?" RP(B) at 201. He testified that he recognized the caller as Mr. Quintana. RP(B) at 201.

Ms. Osorio-Heaton and Chris Jones continued with their usual day. RP(A) at 161, RP(B) at 201. At about 3:00 o'clock that afternoon they had plans to drive to Rainier to buy cigarettes and were sitting in Mr. Jones' 1998 white Toyota Camry, which was parked facing forward in the driveway, which is perpendicular to Ocean Beach Highway. RP(A) at 148, 152, 175. Mr. Jones was seated in the driver's seat and Ms. Osorio-Heaton was in the passenger seat, both facing forward. RP(B) at 202. Mr. Jones said that they were both fully inside the car with both doors closed. RP(B) at 210. Ms. Osorio-Heaton testified that she was sitting in the Camry with "one leg in the vehicle and one leg out." RP(A) at 162.

While in the car, they heard a shout that Ms. Osorio-Heaton described as "showoo" followed by three gunshots. RP(A) at 149, 162. She stated

that after hearing the shots she was scared and ducked. RP(A) at 154. She stated that she recognized the voice making the "showoo" shout as Mr. Quintana, and this was something that he, Mr. Jones, and their group of friends "used to shout all the time." RP(A) at 149.

After hearing the gunshots, Mr. Jones did not immediately turn to look at the road, but "a couple seconds afterward" he turned and saw an SUV that he thought belonged to Billy Johnson. RP(B) at 203. He stated that the "showoo" shout was "a gang-related term," and that it is "how Nortenos—when they go to do something, just yell it, I guess." RP(B) at 204. He did not see a gun and did not see anyone in the SUV. RP(B) at 204-05. He said that he did not know who made the "showoo" call and that "[i]t could've been anyone." RP(B) at 212. He said that he did not hear glass break and "assumed that they either shot in the air, or they may just be gunshots, I didn't know." RP(B) at 213.

Ms. Osorio-Heaton immediately called 911 and said that a person named William Johnson was driving the SUV. RP(A) at 156, RP(B) at 184.

Law enforcement searched the area of the shooting and found a bullet fragment lodged under shingles in the roof of the house at 3301 Ocean Beach Highway. RP (12/8/16) at 37-38, 157. The bullet fragment was moved from a two-by-four underneath the sheeting of the roof and placed in evidence. RP(12/8/16) at 147-58. Detective Calvin Ripp stated that the fragment is from a small caliber round, and that a 40 millimeter is a large caliber round.

RP(C) at 98-99.

Ms. Osorio-Heaton said that after hearing the gunshots, she turned and saw an SUV travelling on Ocean Beach Highway that she said belonged to William Johnson, who was a former friend of Mr. Jones. RP(A) at 150. She stated that she saw a person wearing a black t-shirt in the back seat of the SUV holding a handgun. RP(A) at 150-51. She called 911 and gave a description of the SUV and the direction in which the vehicle was travelling. RP(A) at 156. On cross-examination, Ms. Osorio-Heaton was equivocal regarding the identity of the person who yelled "showoo," stating that she "guesse[d]" that was her memory of the person in the SUV with a gun, then saying that Mr. Quintana was the person she saw hanging out the side of the vehicle. RP(A) at 169. Regarding the driver, she admitted that she told the 911 dispatcher that William Johnson was driving, but during cross-examination conceded that she did not actually see the person who was driving the vehicle. RP(A) at 169.

As cross-examination continued, Ms. Osorio-Heaton conceded that although she said that William Johnson was the driver of the SUV to the 911 dispatcher and in her statement to the police, she did not actually see William Johnson driving and that it was an assumption. RP(A) at 175, 183. Regarding the "showoo" call, she stated that she was not one hundred percent certain that it was Alex Quintana, but that she was 90 percent certain. RP(A) at 174.

Longview Police Detective Michael Maini measured the distances from the Ocean Beach Highway to where the Camry was parked in the driveway as 64 feet, and the distance to the SUV to the Camry at approximately 100 feet. RP(12/8/16) at 29-33. Detective Maini stated that he did not test Mr. Quintana for gunshot residue at the time of his arrest. RP(12/8/16) at 83.

Longview police officer James Bessman stated that he received a report of the suspect vehicle and was also advised that suspects were walking toward 46th Avenue near a dike. RP(12/8/16) at 118. Near that location he saw several men "wearing mostly red in colors" walking toward his vehicle. RP (12/8/16) at 118. He testified that he recognized one of them as Alex Quintana. RP(12/8/16) at 121. He stated that Detective Mortensen and Detective Sanders were also present. RP (12/8/16) at 121. He testified that as they started to drive toward the suspects, "it appeared to me that one person ran behind a house[.]" RP (12/8/16) at 121. The remaining three men, including Alex Quintana, where taken in into custody, and the fourth man was not located. RP(12/8/16) at 121.

Officer Luis Hernandez, the Longview Police officer who wrote the affidavit for warrant to search the Mercedes, acknowledged during cross-examination the warrant was based on—and recited—the claim by Ms. Osorio-Heaton that she recognized the driver as William Darius Johnson. RP(C) at 59. Hernandez acknowledged that no evidence was found inside

the Mercedes showing that Mr. Quintana had been in the vehicle including the rear seat of the SUV. RP(C) at 65. He also stated that no fingerprints were taken; that the clothes found in the SUV were examined to determine if they would fit Mr. Quintana. RP(C) at 65. Hernandez also conceded that the shell casing was not tested for fingerprints. RP(C) at 65.

Justice Arquette initially testified that he told Detective Maini that he let Quintana borrow his iPhone and charger, which was found in the back seat of the Mercedes. RP(C) at 118. Mr. Arquette then asserted his right to remain silent under the Fifth Amendment. RP(C) at 118. The court inquired if Mr. Arquette was going to testify consistently with his prior statement to police that he was not the gunman in order to determine if he intended to make a consistent statement and thus avoid the risk of self-incrimination. RP(C) at 120. Mr. Arquette initially stated that he was high on methamphetamine when he was arrested, and then affirmed that he was going to testify consistently with his previous statement that he did not commit the offense. RP(C) at 121. The court told Mr. Arquette that based on his anticipated answer, he did not have a Fifth Amendment right to refuse to answer, at which point Mr. Arquette then stated:

I—I'm the one that pulled the trigger. He (witness pointing at the stand) shouldn't even be here for this charge. Plain and simple, it was me who pulled the trigger. The phone---

THE COURT: Okay, let me stop you ---

[JUSTICE ARQUETTE]: ---that was my phone.

RP(C) at 122.

After discussion with counsel he re-asserted his Fifth Amendment privilege. RP(C) at 124. Mr. Arquette's testimony was played to the jury. RP(C) at 142-43.

William Johnson testified that on August 23, 2016, he and Alex Quintana went to Mr. Quintana's house in his Mercedes SUV. RP(C) at 146. He stated that were going to meet two girls and drive to go swimming. RP(C) at 147. They were with other people in the SUV. RP(C) at 148. Mr. Johnson stated that he was driving and Mr. Quintana was in the front passenger seat. RP(C) at 148. He stated that he did not know that either of the acquaintances in the back seat were armed. RP(C) at 149. He testified that he and Mr. Quintana were selecting a song on YouTube to play and then heard "showoo" and then three gunshots from backseat. RP(C) at 150. He said that then he drove the SUV to a friend's house and then they walked on the dike to meet the two girls. RP(C) at 151. He said that Mr. Quintana did not fire the gun and did not make the "showoo" shout. RP(C) at 156. He stated that Mr. Quintana was surprised by the gunshots and both of them were mad at the person in the backseat who fired the shots. RP(C) at 156.

Mr. Quintana testified that on August 23, 2016 he and William Johnson drove in his Mercedes. RP(C) at 171-72. He was wearing a white shirt and was riding in the front passenger seat. RP (C) at 172. He stated that they were driving on Ocean Beach Highway and he and Mr. Johnson

were laughing and he was picking a song to play. RP(C) at 173. He testified that someone in the back seat shouted "showoo" and he heard three gunshots. RP(C) at 174-75. He stated that after the incident he was angry with the person who shot the gun. RP(C) at 176. They went to a friend's house and ran when police came. He stated that the person who fired the shots ran and was not caught, and that when they found him, they stopped their search for the shooter. RP(C) at 181.

The jury found Mr. Quintana not guilty of first degree assault in counts I and II, but he was convicted of the lesser included offenses of second degree assault in both counts, one count of drive-by shooting, and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. RP (12/12/16) at 68-69; CP 136, 137, 137, 140, 141, 142.

The Court imposed 60 months for counts I and II, with enhancements of 36 months for each count, to be served consecutively, 84 months for Count III, and 48 months for count IV, for a total of 132 months. RP (1/10/17) at 98; CP 181-185.

Quintana appealed his convictions on the basis that (1) the evidence was insufficient to prove second degree assault and drive-by shooting; (2) he was provided ineffective assistance of counsel because his trial counsel did not move for a mistrial after voir dire, did not move to suppress or exclude gang related evidence, and did not request a limiting instruction for the gang related evidence; and (3) the trial court violated the appearance of fairness

doctrine when it interrupted a witness's incriminating statement and defense counsel's motion to dismiss. By unpublished opinion filed December 27, 2018, the Court of Appeals, Division II, affirmed the convictions. The court held that there was sufficient evidence to support Quintana's convictions and that Quintana was provided effective assistance from his trial counsel. See unpublished opinion.

Quintana now petitions this Court for discretionary review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The considerations that govern the decision to grant review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Petitioner believes that this court should accept review of these issues because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with other decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)).

- 1. THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT JONES WAS PLACED IN REASONABLE FEAR OR APPREHENSION OF BODILY HARM, AN ELEMENT OF SECOND DEGREE ASSAULT
- a. Quintana's right to due process under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3 and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, was violated where the state failed to prove all of the elements of the crime of second degree assault

Constitutional due process requires that in any criminal prosecution every fact necessary to constitute the crime charged must be proven beyond a

reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 25 L.Ed.2d 368, 90 S.Ct. 1068 (1970); Wash, Const. Art. 1, § 3; U. S. Const., Fourteenth Amendment. The proper inquiry is, when viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, whether there was sufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to find the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 61 L.Ed.2d 560, 99 S.Ct. 2781 (1979); *State v. Tilton*, 149 Wn.2d 775, 786, 72 P.3d 735 (2003).

While circumstantial evidence is no less reliable than direct evidence, *State v. Myers*, 133 Wn.2d 26, 38, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997), evidence is insufficient if the inferences drawn from it do not establish the requisite facts beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Baeza*, 100 Wn.2d 487, 491, 670 P.2d 646 (1983).

The State bore the burden of proving in court that Mr. Quintana created reasonable fear and apprehension of bodily injury in Jones.

In this case there was no evidence that Jones actually suffered a reasonable apprehension and fear of bodily injury due to the shooting.

Ms. Osorio-Heaton testified that while sitting in the Toyota Camry she heard three shots and "just kind of put my entire body inside the car and ducked down." RP (B) at 153-54. She stated that she was scared and afraid and thought that a bullet could have hit her. RP(B) at 154. In contrast, Mr. Jones stated that he was in the driver's side of the Camry in the driveway. RP (B) at 211. He stated that after hearing the shoots "he just kind of sat there." RP (B) at 213. He stated that he did not hear any glass breaking and "assumed that they either shot

in the air, or they may just be gunshots[.]" RP (B) at 213. The State presented no testimony that Mr. Jones was fearful or in apprehension of bodily harm during the incident. Division Two's Opinion stated that the jury "did not necessarily have to find that Jones was apprehensive and fearful of bodily injury." *State v. Quintana*, No. 49933-9-II, slip. op. at 12 (citing *State v. Smith*, 159 Wn.2d 778, 154 P.3d 873 (2007)).

Here, the facts do not provide a reasonable factual basis to support a claim of apprehension and future of future harm from the event.

Moreover, it is unknowable, however, which definition of assault provided in Instruction 10 the jury relied on in reaching its verdict. Given the nature of the evidence, particularly given the placement of the single round recovered from the roof of the house—high above the parked car in the driveway—and lack of evidence that any rounds hit the car in the driveway, the jury could have easily found that the shooter did not act with the intent to inflict bodily injury. The evidence doses not support that Jones was placed in apprehension and fear of bodily injury.

Quintana asks this Court to accept review and find that the State presented insufficient evidence to support the conviction for second degree assault in Count 1.

2. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE THAT QUINTANA WAS THE SHOOTER

Under both the state and federal due process clauses, the prosecution bears the burden of proving all the essential elements of every crime, beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980), overruled in part and on other grounds by, *Washington v. Recuenco*, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); Sixth Amend.; Fourteenth Amend.; Article I, § 3. When the prosecution fails to meet that burden, reversal and dismissal is required. *State v. Smith*, 155 Wn.2d 496, 504-505, 120 P.3d 559 (2005).

All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992); *State v. Craven*, 67 Wn. App. 921, 928, 841 P.2d 774 (1992). Circumstantial evidence is no less reliable than direct evidence, and criminal intent may be inferred from conduct where "plainly indicated as a matter of logical probability." *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom. Salinas, at 201; *Craven*, at 928. In cases involving only circumstantial evidence and a series of inferences, the essential proof of guilt cannot be supplied solely by a pyramiding of inferences where the inferences and underlying evidence are not strong enough to permit a rationale trier of fact to find guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Bencivenga*, 137 Wn.2d 703, 711, 974 P.2d 832 (1999) (citing *State v. Weaver*, 60 Wn.2d 87, 89, 371 P.2d 1006 (1962)).

Even viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, as

required, no rational trier of fact could have found that Mr. Quintana was the person who fired the shots from the SUV.

The only substantive evidence at trial identifying Mr. Quintana as the drive-by shooter was the testimony of Ms. Osorio-Heaton. Because no evidence was offered that connected any weapon to Mr. Quintana and because Ms. Osorio-Heaton's claim that she had seen Mr. Johnson driving the SUV was belied by an utter lack of physical evidence and her false statement to police that she saw the driver of the SUV, the convictions are not supported by sufficient evidence. Ms. Osorio-Heaton made two claims of identification; she told police that William Johnson was the driver and that Mr. Quintana was the shooter. However, she acknowledged during trial that she had not actually seen the driver, despite her statement that he was the driver. This casts considerable doubt her veracity regarding her claim that she saw Mr. Quintana with a gun hanging out the window of the Mercedes.

No evidence supports her claim that Mr. Quintana was the shooter: (1) no physical evidence links Mr. Quintana to the SUV, (2) no gunshot residue evidence was collected from Mr. Quintana showing a recent discharge of a weapon, (3) a suspect seen by Officer Bessman at the time of the arrests disappeared and was never apprehended, (4) Justice Arquette's iPhone was in the SUV, and (5) the shooter was described by Ms. Osorio-Heaton as wearing a black t-shirt; Mr. Quintana was wearing a white t-shirt when arrested. Clothing recovered during the warrant search of the Mercedes was not linked to Mr.

Quintana. Of the most significance is the testimony of Justice Arquette, who stated under oath that he was the shooter and that Mr. Quintana was not involved.

Even in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence does not establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Quintana possessed a firearm and that he fired a gun on August 23, 2016. The absence of proof beyond a reasonable doubt requires dismissal of the conviction and charge. *Green*, 94 Wn.2d at 221.

The Court of Appeals' affirmance of Quintana's convictions was based on a cursory assessment of the facts and merits review by this Court.

F. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should grant review to correct the above-referenced errors in the unpublished opinion of the court below that conflict with prior decisions of this Court and the courts of appeals.