FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/1/2019 10:58 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

> SUPREME COURT NO. 96785-7 C.O.A. No. 49933-9-II Cowlitz Co. Cause No. 16-1-01107-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ALEX QUINTANA,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

THOMAS LADOUCEUR/WSBA# 19963 Chief Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Office and P. O. Address: Hall of Justice 312 S. W. First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 Telephone: 360/577-3080

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Tom Ladouceur, Chief Criminal Deputy Prosecuting Attorney, Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney's Office.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals correctly decided this matter. Specifically, the Court held that there was sufficient evidence to support the guilty verdict. The Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny review of the December 27, 2018, Court of Appeals' opinion affirming the convictions in State of Washington v. Alex Quintana Jr., Court of Appeals No. 49933-9-II

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should the Supreme Court accept review of Quintana's petition when the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with a prior decision of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals, and he raises no other grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Quintana was convicted of two counts of second-degree assault, drive-by shooting, and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. In his petition for review, Quintana claims the evidence was insufficient as to count 1, second-degree assault. The victim in this count was Christopher Jones.

The State supplements Quintana's statement of the case as follows. Ms. Osorio-Heaton (the victim in Count 2) was certain the person who called her the morning of August 23, 2016 was the defendant. RP 157. She did not take the message as being friendly, because they weren't friends. RP 161. Later that day she and Christopher were driving in Christopher's car when she heard someone shout "showoo", and when she looked she saw a gun coming out of the window of a vehicle. She recognized the vehicle as belonging to William Johnson, who used to hang out with her boyfriend Christopher Jones. RP 150. She recognized the defendant's voice as the person who shouted the "showoo" call RP 148, 149, 164. She had heard that particular shout from defendant as well as Christopher Jones in their group of friends. RP 149. She saw the defendant in the back seat behind the driver with a gun in his hand. He was wearing a black T-shirt. RP 154. She heard three shots. RP 151. She was scared that a bullet could have hit her or her son who was outside shortly before the shots were fired. RP 154. She immediately called 911. RP 156.

The 911 call was played for the jury. In addition to the 911 call excerpts included in appellant's brief, Ms. Osorio also stated "the person who shot was Alex Quintana," and "I saw him in the vehicle." RPA 14, 15. (Proceedings on 12/8/16).

2

Quintana asserts "Ms. Osorio-Heaton *was equivocal* regarding the identity of the person who yelled showoo." (Petitioner's brief, page 5) Although that may be Quintana's interpretation of the actual testimony, whether she was equivocal or not was for the jury to determine. When asked on cross examination "is Alex Quintana the person you saw in this car," she answered, "yes." RP 169.

V. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Because Quintana's motion fails to raise any of the grounds governing review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied. Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Quintana argues the State presented insufficient evidence of count 1, assault in the second degree. Quintana claims this court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision because it conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals. He does not raise grounds under RAP 13.4(b) (3) or (4). Quintana does not identify any particular decision of either the Court of Appeals or the State Supreme Court which is in conflict with the decision by the Court of Appeals in this case. Quintana also does not provide any argument as to how any decision he cites in his brief is in conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in this case.

Quintana argues "there was no evidence that Jones actually suffered a reasonable apprehension and fear of bodily injury due to the shooting." (Page 11). The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, explaining,

"Quintana correctly points out that the record lacks direct testimonial evidence of Jones's fear or apprehension. However, such proof was not required under the facts and circumstances of this case. Circumstantial evidence proves Jones's apprehension. Jones heard the "showoo" call and the gunshots. He knew that members of the Nortenos did not like him. He also testified that he was "[k]ind of shocked" by the gunshots. B VRP (Dec. 7, 2016) at 203. Additionally, any reasonable person would understand that gunshots can kill you. Taken in a light most favorable to the State, circumstantial evidence showed Jones's fear or apprehension.

The court went on to explain that to find Quintana guilty of assault, the jury did not necessarily have to find that Jones was apprehensive and fearful of bodily injury. Instead, under an alternate definition of assault, the jury could have found an assault occurred when there was an act of unlawful force done with the intent to inflict bodily injury accompanied by the present ability to inflict such bodily injury. In support of its decision that there was sufficient evidence of this alternative manner of committing an assault, the court observed that there was ill will between the Nortenos, of which Quintana was a member, and Jones after Jones was kicked out of the group, and that Quintana shot toward Osorio-Heaton and Jones three times, not just once. This evidence, the court correctly concluded, taken in a light most favorable to the prosecution, would allow a reasonable jury to find Quintana guilty of second degree assault against Jones.

Quintana next argues there was insufficient evidence to prove that he was the shooter. In support of his argument Quintana contends that Osorio Heaton made a false statement to the police and there was an utter lack of physical evidence supporting her claims. This he argues, casts considerable doubt on the veracity of her testimony that she saw Quintana with the gun hanging out of the window of the Mercedes. The Court of Appeals disagreed with this argument, noting the well-settled law that courts defer to the jury to make determinations on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. With these principles in mind, Quintana's arguments regarding the identity of the shooter go to the jury's determinations regarding credibility and the weight of the evidence. Again, Quintana does not cite to any appellate court decision which conflicts with the appellate court's decision.

Quintana cites to *State v. Baeza*, 100 Wash. 2d 487, 490–91, 670 P.2d 646, 648 (1983). This case is not in conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in Quintana. *Baeza* simply applied the well-settled law that in

5

evaluating a sufficiency of the evidence claim, the reviewing court must not attempt to determine whether it believes the State has met the burden of proof. Rather, the relevant inquiry is "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Baeza* at 490. Applying these principles to the facts of that case the court held there was not sufficient evidence, noting the fact that petitioner may have owned the green and white Dodge pickup does not establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. No one identified petitioner as having been on Dodson Road when the theft apparently occurred, at the shop building when the calf was delivered, or later, when the calf was discovered. Further, the State offered no proof that petitioner had masterminded or even aided the theft in some way.

The facts in *Baeza* are completely different than the facts in the case at bar. Simply pointing to a case which applies well-settled principles of sufficiency of the evidence but which is factually distinguishable from the present case does not mean that there is a conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and *Baeza*.

Quintana also cites *State v. Bencivenga*, 137 Wash. 2d 703, 705, 974 P.2d 832, 833 (1999) and *State v. Weaver*, 60 Wash. 2d 87, 87–88, 371 P.2d 1006, 1007–08 (1962). These cases also do not conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in this case. Quintana does not even attempt to explain how they conflict with the decision.

Citing to State v. Weaver and State v. Bencivenga Quintana writes. "in cases involving only circumstantial evidence and a series of inferences. the essential proof of guilt cannot be supplied solely by a pyramiding of inferences where the inferences and underlying evidence are not strong enough to permit a rational trier of fact to find guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." (Petitioner's brief page 13). Quintana misrepresents the holdings of these cases. The Bencivenga court stated, "our decision in Weaver was predicated on our application of the *former rule* which required that if a conviction rests solely on circumstantial evidence, the circumstances proved must be unequivocal and inconsistent with innocence.¹ We have since rejected this rule in favor of the rule that whether the evidence be direct, circumstantial, or a combination of the two, the jury need be instructed that it need only be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (Emphasis added). See also State v. Locke, 175 Wash. App. 779, 789, 307 P.3d 771, 776 (2013) (Our Supreme Court, however,

¹ Weaver involved a situation where the only proof of the defendants' connection with the count charged was the discovery of a tool that may or may not have been used in the commission of a burglary in a spot where the defendants had been.

subsequently rejected the rule in *Weaver*, citing with approval the statement that "[i]f the inferences and underlying evidence are strong enough to permit a rational fact finder to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, a conviction may be properly based on pyramiding inferences.")

Quintana argues that the Court of Appeals' affirmance of his conviction was based "on a cursory assessment of the facts." The Court of Appeals' review of the facts was hardly cursory. The court examined all of the testimony, as well as a number of photographs admitted as exhibits. The undisputed evidence was that someone fired three shots from a moving vehicle in the direction of the two victims in this case, Osorio Heaton and Christopher Jones, who were standing in front of their house. One bullet actually hit their house. Quintana and two others were in that moving vehicle. The issue at trial was who fired the gun. There was hostility between the gang Quintana was a member of and Jones, a former gang member ousted for violating gang rules. The 911 call from Osorio Heaton was played for the jury, in which she identified Quintana as the shooter. She also identified Quintana as the shooter at trial. A rational person could conclude that Quintana was the shooter, that firing a gun 3 times towards two people is an act done with the intent to inflict bodily injury even though there was no injury. A rational person could also conclude that the

circumstantial evidence, as noted by the Court of Appeals, was sufficient to show that Mr. Jones was placed in fear and apprehension of bodily injury.

Quintana does not identify any particular decision of the Court of Appeals which is in conflict with the decision by the Court of Appeals in this case. Quintana also does not provide any argument as to how any decision he cites in his brief is contrary to general case law regarding sufficiency of the evidence.

VI. CONCLUSION

Because the petition does not meet any of the considerations governing acceptance of review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied.